1970

State of Utah, By and Through Its Road Commission v. Betty Lesourd, Alex T. Davies and Thelma Davies, His Wjfe, and Valley Bank & Trust Company : Brief of Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All italics are ours and are added for emphasis. The parties will be referred to as in the Trial Court. "R" refers to Record and "T. R." refers to Transcript of Record.

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action in eminent domain, brought by the State of Utah, by and through its Road Commission to acquire certain land owned by the defendants for highway purposes. The only issues before the Court below were the fair market value of the property taken by the State as of the 12th day of September, 1967, the damage to the remainder, if any, and the amount of land owned by defendants and effected by the take.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Civil actions Nos. 3753 and 3736, on file in the District Court of Summit County, State of Utah, were consolidated for purposes of trial before the Court, sitting without a jury. At the conclusion of the trial, the Court entered judgment in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff in the sum of \$65,990.00, as just compensation for the property condemned and damages to the remainder of defendants' properties. Plaintiff filed a Motion for New Trial, or in the alternative, a Motion for Remittiture, which Motions were duly argued to the Court and denied. Thereafter, the plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff asks that the judgment and ruling of the Lower Court be reversed and a new trial ordered.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff filed two actions in the District Court of Summit County, State of Utah, pursuant to the law of eminent domain in this State for the purpose of condemning, for highway purposes, defendants' rights in .48 acre of real property described as Parcel Nos. 28, 28:H, 28:F, and 28:G, as more fully set forth in the Complaints on file herein.

By stipulation of counsel, the Summons and Complaints were served upon the respective defendants on September 12, 1967, and as such would constitute the date of taking and the date upon which all testimony and evidence relative to values would be directed and predicated (R 79, 80).

The subject property is located near the intersection of U. S. Highway 40 and Highway U-248, in Summit County, Utah, commonly known as Kimball's Junction (TR 620). Prior to, and at the date of taking, a business consisting of a garage, service station, cafe, and small cabins was conducted upon a portion of the property. The improvements were concentrated upon approximately 1.33 acres of land adjacent to U. S. Highway 40 (TR 621, 631), being Parcels 5 and 6, Ex. P-4. Access was confined to two thirty foot openings located on opposite sides of the gasoline pumps (TR 620).

The defendants Alex Davies and Thelma Davies,

his wife, purchased their property from Emmett Brooks in 1952 (TR 70, Ex. P-13). At the commencement of the trial, defendants asserted that they owned approximately 8 acres of land which comprised the parcel from which the taking was made and was the parcel damaged in the condemnation proceedings (TR 56). The plaintiff maintained that the defendants did not own all of the land claimed, and the determination of just compensation should be limited to that unit or parcel of land owned by said defendants and effected by the take (TR 15, 16, 17).

The Trial Court concluded that an issue of title existed which should be resolved before considering any evidence relative to damages (TR 52). The evidence of title to the area consisted, in part, of plaintiff's Exhibits P-4 and P-10, and Abstracts of Title (P-11, P-12, P-13, P-14, P-15, P-16 and P-17), which were used extensively in tracing the indicia of title of the parcels of land directly involved. Exhibit P-4 is a tracing with several overlays prepared by the witness, Darwin McGuire, licensed abstractor, who appeared as a witness in behalf of the plaintiff. The exhibit is designed to illustrate the land description in the chain of title to each tract, and is numbered and colored to correspond with each Abstract of Title (Ex. P-11 to P-17). Mr. Charles W. Romney, Esq., who is a licensed abstractor and attorney, searched and examined the official records of Summit County, State of Utah, and examined the Abstracts of Title in evidence and

testified relative to the title to the various parcels (TR 223, 224, and 225).

Utilizing the parcels numbered on Exhibit P-4, the testimony of both the abstractor, Darwin McGuire, and the testimony of Charles W. Romney, Esq., can be summarized in the following manner:

1. Parcels 1 and 2 are vested in Summit County, a municipal corporation (TR 223).

2. Parcel 3 (not involved in this action) is vested in the American Legion (TR 223).

3. Parcel 4 was owned by C. H. Stoven and Florence M. Stoven, his wife, and was sold to Summit County by an Agreement to Sell Real Estate which appears of record in the office of the County Recorder of Summit County, State of Utah, as Entry No. 49040 (Ex. P-11) (TR 173).

4. Parcels 5, 6 and 7 are vested in Betty LeSourd (TR 223).

5. Parcel 8, in yellow and the unnumbered portions in yellow, are vested in the State of Utah (TR 224), (P-4).

6. Parcel 9, in red, belongs to U. S. Highway Thirty Association (TR 225).

7. Parcels 10A, 10B, and 10C, colored in light blue, with the exception of that portion of 10C covered by red hash marks, belongs to L. J. Tree (TR 223, 224).

8. That portion of Parcel 10C, in blue and covered by the red hash marks, belongs to Betty LeSourd (TR 223).

9. Parcel 11, in the dark green, is vested in the State of Utah (TR 224).

In 1963 the defendants, Alex Davies and Thelma Davies, his wife, executed a Warranty Deed in favor of their daughter, Betty LeSourd, pertaining to Parcel No. 7, shown on Exhibit P-4 and reserved a life estate unto themselves (TR 188). Thereafter, in March, 1964, Alex Davies and Thelma Davies, his wife, executed a Warranty Deed in favor of Betty LeSourd, describing Parcels 5, 6, and 7 as shown on Exhibit P-4 and reserved life estates therein (TR 188).

In 1965, Alex Davies and Thelma Davies, his wife, executed two Warranty Deeds in favor of Betty LeSourd (Ex. D-7, D-8). One deed used the description of Parcel No. 2 of the Bush and Gudgell Survey (Ex. P-10), and comprised 0.595 acre, which constitutes a part of Parcels 9 and 10-A, of Ex. P-4 (TR 189). The other deed used the description of Parcel No. 1 of the Bush and Gudgell Survey (Ex. P-10) comprising 7.975 acres, which constitutes Parcels 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, parts of 9, 10-B and 10-C of Ex. P-4 (TR 190).

With respect to the land claimed and in dispute, the defendants had only paid taxes upon the same for

two years immediately preceding the filing of the Condemnation Complaints (R 49, TR 209).

The defendant Thelma Davies testified that the old county road, which bisects the land claimed by them, has in fact, been used at times by the public (R 100). Alex Davies testified that gravel had been removed from the old road right of way without his consent (TR 116, 123).

At the conclusion of the hearing on the title issue, the Court ruled that the defendants had established their "claim of interest" in and to 6.27 acres of land to "be considered for the purpose of this taking as being the property of the defendants" (R 49, 50), (TR 266, 267). As a consequence of the Court's ruling, and subject to the objections of plaintiff, all evidence and testimony relative to the damages were predicated upon the premise that the taking was from the 6.27 acres and damage to the remaining parcel by reason thereof.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN HOLDING THAT THE PARCEL OF LAND OWNED BY THE DEFENDANTS, ALEX T. DAVIES AND THELMA DAVIES, HIS WIFE, AND BETTY LESOURD, EFFECTED BY THE CONDEMNATION CON-

SISTED OF 6.27 ACRES OF LAND.

A. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY OF THE VALUE OF THE PARCEL COMPRISING 6.27 ACRES BEFORE THE TAKE AND EVIDENCE OF VALUE OF THE REMAINING PROPERTIES COMPRISING 5.85 ACRES.

POINT II

DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO SUSTAIN THE BURDEN OF PROOF OF SUCH AN INTEREST IN THE PARCEL OF LAND AS WOULD SUPPORT THE AWARD OF SEVERANCE DAMAGES.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN HOLDING THAT THE PARCEL OF LAND OWNED BY THE DEFENDANTS, ALEX T. DAVIES AND THELMA DAVIES, HIS WIFE, AND BETTY LESOURD, EFFECTED BY THE CONDEMNATION CONSISTED OF 6.27 ACRES OF LAND.

The law is well settled in this State that in order to acquire title by adverse possession, it is essential under the provisions of 78-12-11 and 78-12-12 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, claimants must show and prove all of the requisite elements set forth.

“78-12-11. What constitutes adverse possession not under written instrument. — For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by a person claiming title, not founded upon a written instrument, judgment or decree land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in the following cases only:

1. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.

2. Where it has been unusually cultivated or improved.

3. Where labor or money has been expended upon dams, canals, embankments, aqueducts or otherwise for the purpose of irrigating such lands amounting to the sum of \$5 per acre.”

“78-12-12. — Possession must be continuous, and taxes paid — In no case shall adverse possession be considered established under the provisions of any section of this Code, unless it shall be shown that the land has been occupied and claimed for the period of seven years continuously, and that the party, his predecessors and grantors have paid all taxes which have been levied and assessed upon such land according to law.”

The cases are legion that unless each of the elements set forth under the aforesaid Code provisions have been complied with, no valid title can be

acquired in properties occupied by claimants. See the following authorities:

Jenkins vs. Morgan, 113 Utah 534, 196 P. 2d 871;

Tripp vs. Bagley, 74 Utah 57, 72, 276 P. 912;

D. H. Perry Estate vs. Ford, 46 Utah 436, 151 P. 59;

Homeowners Loan Corporation vs. Dudley, 105 Utah 208, 221 P. 2d 160;

Keller vs. Chournos, 102 Utah 535, 133 P. 2d 318;

Smith vs. Nelson, 114 Utah 51, 197 P. 2d 132.

There is no evidence or testimony in the record which would sustain any claim of any right, title, interest, or estate in and to Parcel No. 3, vested in the American Legion; Parcel No. 4, owned by C. H. Stoven and his wife Florence M. Stoven subject to a contract of sale in favor of Summit County; Parcel No. 9, vested in U. S. Highway Thirty Association; Parcels 10A, 10B, and that portion of 10C not covered by red hash marks, vested in L. J. Tree, all of which are shown on plaintiff's Exhibit P-4 and supported by Exhibits P-11 through P-17.

With respect to the portion of land owned by Summit County comprising tracts designated as Parcels 1, 2, and 4 upon plaintiff's Exhibit 4, it is likewise patently clear and well established under the law of this State that a party cannot, by adverse use or possession,

perfect or acquire any interest in realty, adverse to the interest of the sovereign. By virtue of this rule of law as recognized by this Court, the defendants would, in no event regardless of the extent and nature of their use of said land, acquire any interest by adverse use against Summit County. The undisputed evidence and testimony is that Summit County acquired the fee title to the subject property by Warranty Deed in statutory form, without restriction (Ex. P-17), and was on the date of the taking vested with the fee simple title of said land.

In Peterson vs. Johnson, 84 Utah 89, 34 P. 2d 697, this Court stated as follows:

“Moreover, one may not acquire title to any part of the public domain by enclosing the same within his fence or by adverse possession. Utah Copper Company vs. Ekman, 47 Utah 164, 152 P. 178.”

In Cassity vs. Castagno, 10 Utah 2d 16, 347 P. 2d 834: “One may not adverse the sovereign. Lund vs. Wilcox, 34 Utah 205, 97 P. 33.”

The rule of law is likewise announced in 2 C.J.S., Adverse Possession, Section 14 as follows:

“Generally speaking, title to property dedicated or devoted to a public use cannot be acquired by prescription or adverse possession. Title to such property cannot be acquired by adverse possession as against the public or as against the State or a political subdivision thereof, such as a county.” (See authorities cited therein.)

Under the provisions of 57-1-12 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which replaces former 78-1-11 U.C.A. 1943, when a Deed of Conveyance has been executed and delivered in the form prescribed by said statute it has “ * * * the effect of a conveyance in fee simple to the Grantee, * * * .”

57-1-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953, which is the former 78-1-11 U.C.A. 1943, sets forth the following provision:

“A fee simple title is presumed to be intended to pass by a conveyance of real estate, unless it appears from the conveyance that a lessor state was intended.”

In the case of *White vs. Salt Lake City*, 121 Utah 134, 239 P. 2d 210, this Court in considering the facts, issues, and certain statutes, which we believe are applicable to the issues raised in this case, there stated:

“But as long as the dedicated street remains platted as a public thoroughfare, the statutory provision that the fee is vested in the County Commission can only be interpreted to mean that the rights of the county, acting through its Commissioners, are superior to those of the abutting property owners insofar as the normal use of the street is concerned. We have clearly changed by statute the old common law rule insofar as streets in platted subdivisions are concerned.”

“ * * * The provisions enumerating the powers of the County Commissioners clearly indicate that the legislature did not regard the dedication to the public of the street in a platted subdivision as the surrender of an easement with

retention of the fee to the corpus in the abutting owner the segregated statutory provisions are reconcilable when construed to mean that the county or city authorities are vested with the fee in the streets. Such ownership carries with it the right to use it for the enumerated purposes when, in their discretion, it best serves the public interest. It may be abandoned and, in that case, the right to the use and control of this roadway would revert to the abutting owner pursuant to 36-1-7 and common law principles.”

Of further significance to the issue are the provisions of Title 36, Chapter 1, Section 3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, and 36-1-3 U.C.A. 1943 and 27-1-3 U.C.A. 1953 which provide as follows:

“All highways once established must continue to be highways until abandoned by order of the Board of County Commissioners of the County in which they are situated or other competent authority.”

The defendant land owners did not present any competent evidence or testimony that the Board of County Commissioners of Summit County, or other competent authority had enacted in proper statutory form, or otherwise, any appropriate Resolution or Ordinance authorizing or directing the abandonment or vacation of Parcels 1, 2, and 4, Exhibit P-4.

The distinction between a situation where the municipal authorities have acquired the unqualified fee and where a mere easement of use as a public street or highway has been taken is set forth in 70 A.L.R.

at Page 565:

“The rule to the effect that, where the absolute and unqualified fee in a street is in a municipality, the title remains in the municipality unaffected by the vacation or abandonment of the street as such, is impliedly supported by *Schlanger vs. Schulman* (1925) 211 App. Div. 601, 207 N. Y. Supp. 723, and *Frank W. Coy Real Estate vs. Pendleton* (1924) 45 R. I. 477, 123 Atl. 562.

Of further significance is the language set forth and contained in 39 Am. Jur. 2d 518 Section 146, which reads as follows:

“Where the procedure for the vacation or discontinuance of a highway or street by direct action of the public authorities is prescribed by statute, it is necessary to adhere to such procedure in order that the vacation may be effective, and there can be no estoppel to deny the vacation or discontinuance of a highway or street in the absence of substantial compliance with the procedure prescribed by statute. * * * ”

In 39 C.J.S. 1073, Section 137 the following additional rule is set forth:

“From the principle stated in the preceding section, it regularly follows that when the highway is discontinued or abandoned the land becomes discharged of the servitude, and the absolute title to the land covered by the highway reserved reverts to the owner of the fee without any further action of the highway authorities, except where the fee to the highway has passed

to the public. The general rule governs even in cases where a new and different highway is substituted for the one abandoned. * * *

In *Stillwater vs. Lovell*, (Okla. 1932) 15 P. 2d 12, the Court said:

“1. ‘A municipal corporation has no inherent power to vacate a street within its limits or any part thereof. Even when specifically authorized by the legislature to vacate streets a municipal corporation cannot lawfully vacate a public street or highway for the benefit of a private individual. A street or highway cannot be vacated unless it is for the benefit of the public that such action should be taken.’”

“2. ‘If the public interest is not the motive which prompts the vacation of a street whether partial or entire the act of vacation is an abuse of power and especially is it a gross abuse of power if it is authorized without reference to the rights of the public and merely that the convenience of a private individual may be subserved.’”

Defendants failed to present any evidence of any document in writing which would support their claim of title as required under the provisions of Title 25, Chapter 5, Section 1, Utah Code Annotated (1953) (Statute of Frauds), which would support their claim of title to the land with the exception of Parcels 5, 6, and 7, Exhibit P-4.

The Trial Court determined that in view of the deed issued by Summit County to the Utah State Road

Commission, two portions of land, originally claimed by the defendants, were owned by the Utah State Road Commission and would not, therefore, be considered as property of the defendants in the issue of determining just compensation (TR 266, 267). Of necessity and to justify such a ruling, the Court had to conclude that Summit County had a valid right and interest in the property in order to convey to the plaintiff an interest paramount to that of the defendants. How then can the Trial Court conclude that the remaining land standing in the name of the County is now vested or "owned" by the defendants? It is our position that the authorities cited hereinabove, applied to the testimony and evidence adduced at the trial conclusively demonstrates that the Trial Court erred in its ruling on the issue of title. The ownership of the other tracts involved likewise cannot be sustained by the defendants on the basis of the evidence and testimony presented, as nowhere in the transcript does there appear any competent evidence or testimony which would support the title asserted by the defendants and which, we believe, would at best constitute a mere possessory interest without any other indicia of ownership.

POINT I (A)

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY OF THE VALUE OF THE PARCEL COMPRISING 6.27 ACRES BEFORE THE

TAKE AND EVIDENCE OF VALUE OF THE REMAINING PROPERTIES COMPRISING 5.85 ACRES.

Subsection (2), Title 78, Chapter 34, Section 10 Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides:

“ * * * (2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.”

There can be no doubt that under certain circumstances compensation for the taking by right of eminent domain of a parcel or parcels of land may include recovery for injury to the remaining portion of the land caused from its separation from the condemned part where the parcels have been used as a single economic unit for a common purpose. However, in order to allow such severance damage plaintiff contends that there must be a unity of ownership between the part taken and the remaining property. The unity of ownership must of necessity involve something more than a “squattor’s right” or a bare assertion of ownership without any competent indicia of title. Of significance on this point we refer the Court to the case of McIntyre vs. Board of County Commissioners, 168 Kan. 115, 211 P.2d 59. In that action, eminent domain proceedings were commenced to establish a road across

a portion of two adjoining separate tracts of land owned separately by a husband and his wife. Although the two tracts had been used jointly as a single unit for the operation of a farm, the Court rejected the theory that the husband was entitled to damages for the depreciation of the value of his tract on account of the taking of the tract belonging to his wife, there announcing the following rule:

“The pieces of land alleged to be a single tract must be owned by the same party, and one owner is not entitled to recover compensation for land taken from him because of alleged damage resulting to that portion of land remaining on account of the taking of land belonging to him. Even though, as under the facts of this case, the two tracts have been farmed and operated as one unit.”

In *Williamstown vs. Wallace*, (1958 Ky.) 316, S. W. 2d 373, the Court, relying upon the rule that “there must be *identical* ownership where *incidental damage* to a parcel of land other than that over which a right-of-way is condemned was claimed,” held:

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