1970

State of Utah, By and Through Its Road Commission v. Betty Lesourd, Alex T. Davies and Thelma Davies, His Wjfe, and Valley Bank & Trust Company : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CONTRARY TO THE CLAIM OF STATE COUNSEL,
THE ISSUE OF ADVERSE POSSESSION WAS NOT
RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT AND IS NOT NOW
HERE ON APPEAL.

The State rests its appeal in this case on the singular point that the Defendants did not make a case of adverse possession. At the outset, therefore, it should be made very clear that this case does not involve, nor has it ever involved (as State's counsel would have the Court believe) any issue, question or claim of adverse possession by these Landowners. The Landowners never rested their case on ownership of any of the property under consideration on any ethereal argument of adverse possession and the question was not debated, expressly or by innuendo, at any point of trial in the lower Court. The State's Brief misses the whole thrust of the Defendants' case on ownership. Their position was and is that open and continuous use, possession and claim to the 6.27 acres for better than 15 years under color of title is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of ownership as against all others except for one who claims and manifests a higher or better title. The record is beyond dispute that these owners had been for upwards of 20 years in quiet and peaceable possession of the subject property under color of title without any claimant having ever asserted any right, title or interest in and to the property.

Thus the State was never confronted with the issue of adverse possession, or of who, as between two or more adverse claimants, was entitled to compensation. The laborious treatise of State counsel in his Brief on the elements of adverse possession, on the long recognized doctrine that adverse possession cannot be maintained as against the sovereign, and on the argument that these Landowners did not make a sufficient showing of adverse possession, *totally*

misses the mark of the lower Court's ruling, ignores three days of testimony spent on the issue of ownership, and fails to even mention the authorities upon which the trial Judge obviously predicated his ruling.

It is sufficient to note at this juncture that the title to the property condemned by the State was indisputably vested in the Defendants. App. Br. p. 26. Accordingly, there was no question but that the State did acquire full record and possessory title and ownership to the property sought in the action. The only query was whether the Defendants had established an adequate showing of ownership to the remaining property so as to entitle them to the recovery of damages which had been undeniably sustained.

POINT II

THE RULING OF THE COURT ON OWNERSHIP OF THE 6.27 ACRES WAS IN FULL ACCORDANCE WITH RULING CASE LAW.

After better than a day of argument and proffers of proof on the part of both counsel, the trial Court quite succinctly announced the rule that would govern and control the resolution of the ownership question:

“The Court is of the opinion that in the light of counsels’ very comprehensive and enlightening opening statements, the Court should at this time find that there is an issue of title in the case, and that that issue should be met by defendants moving forward with their burden of proof; at least, Mr. Campbell, to the point of establishing quiet possession under some claim of ownership or color of title in the defendants. And then I believe that if that

burden is met by defendants, we can then determine whether the State has the witnesses that you refer to who can come before this Court and claim an interest in subject lands." (Tr. 57).

By such ruling, the trial Judge recognized and followed the leading and only authority cited by the parties on the question, *Nichols on Eminent Domain*. Nichols states the proposition to be that with respect to evidence of ownership of land not condemned but claimed to have been damaged by the condemnation:

"It is accordingly quite generally the law that, in condemnation proceedings under authority of law, proof of possession under claim of title will be treated as *prima facie* evidence of ownership in fee, and will be sufficient to entitle the person in such possession to receive the compensation awarded for the land, *if no one showing a better title lays claim to it.*"

2 *Nichols on Eminent Domain* 28, §5.2[3]

The rationale of Judge Swan's ruling, uncontested as it was by the State, and the authoritative statement of Nichols are grounded upon the avoidance of imposing the otherwise intolerable hardship upon a land-condemnee of showing good title against all the world to severed property remaining after condemnation where the public records disclose the lack of a perfect chain of record title, along with possible clouds and stray instruments which have never been discharged, released, or abandoned. In a word, this well reasoned authority and ruling prevents a full scale trial of a quiet title action regarding property *not condemned by the State*, but rather possessed, fenced and openly

occupied by the Defendants under clear color of title, which had sustained permanent damage and as to which no one had ever made any foreign claim prior to condemnation or at any time.

Accordingly and to this end, the trial Court determined that Davies and LeSourd had the initial burden of establishing quiet, peaceable and undisturbed possession of the 6.27 acres under color of title, and that thereupon, the State had the responsibility of producing claimants who bona fide asserted an interest in such property as suggested by the spurious and unconnected documents on the records of the County Recorder. *These landowners met and established their burden of proof by showing such quiet, undisturbed and peaceable possession of the subject property shown in yellow on Exhibit 1 for better than 15 years under full color of title during which time no person whomsoever asserted any claim or interest against them.* The State, on the other hand, failed to produce one witness, who asserted or would assert any claim in or to the property. Rather, it chose to fall back on a hodge-podge of unrelated, inconsistent, overlapping and ancient documents of record. It was just such an attempt on the part of the condemning agency in challenging the title of the landowner which, but for such condemnation, would have obviously gone unchallenged by anyone, to avoid the condemning agency's constitutional and statutory obligation to pay full and just compensation which the Court attempted to mitigate by its ruling in the landmark decision of *Perry v. Clissold*, (1907) A.C. 73 (a case cited favorably in *Nichols on Eminent Domain* Vol. 2 §5.2[3]) :

“It could hardly have been intended or contemplated that the Act *should have the affect of shaking titles which, but for the Act would have been secure, and would in the process of time become absolute and indisputable*, or that the Governor, or responsible Ministers acting under his instructions should take advantage of the infirmity of anybody’s title in order to acquire his land for nothing.”

The rule in *Perry* is a corollary to the long established principal of the common law that a trespass is an injury to possession and *that possession under claim of title is good as against all the world except one actually claiming a superior title*. As a trespasser cannot defend against one in possession by proving that record title to the property is in a third party, neither can the condemning body in an eminent domain suit shirk its constitutional obligation to pay Just Compensation by attacking the title of a party in quiet and peaceable possession. *Morrison v. Hinkson*, 87 Ill. 587 (1878); *LaFayette v. Wortman*, 107 Ind. 404, 8 NE 277 (1886). This Court has followed the footstep authority of *Perry* as recognized in *Nichols* in the case of *Ketchum Coal Company v. District Court of Carbon County, et al*, 48 Utah 432, 159 Pac. 737 (1916). Therein, it was held that a condemnor may not dispute a title of a party in possession, for the purposes of assessment of just compensation, *unless the condemnor, itself, holds or has acquired a paramount title to the land*. Justice Frick, writing for an undivided Court, stated:

“The condemning party cannot dispute the title of the party in possession, against whom proceedings

have been instituted, unless such party had acquired a paramount title.”

1. *Adverse Possession Against the Sovereign Was Never an Issue in This Case.*

The prolonged argument of State counsel in its Brief (pages 8-12) that ownership by adverse possession may not be acquired by a private individual *vis-a-vis* the sovereign is quite unnecessary to the disposition of this case. While such hornbook rule of law is accurately stated, it is, as noted in this Brief, plainly irrelevant to the issue of ownership before the trial Court and on appeal for the following reasons:

- (a) Adverse possession, as observed above, exists as an issue only between two or more parties, each of whom claim some interest in the same land. As against all others, one in possession has perfect title except as to another who actually asserts a recognized paramount interest.
- (b) Judge Swan ruled that as to any property or parcels in which the State claimed and proved a recognized paramount interest, these Defendants had no right or interest therein even though the Defendants might otherwise have been in quiet, undisturbed and peaceable possession; and thus, to the extent any issue of sovereignty was involved, *the Court ruled in favor of the State.*
- (c) The record is clear that neither the State Road Commission, Summit County, or any other sovereign en-

tity, claimed any right, title or interest in or to any part or portion of the remainder of land occupied and possessed by the Defendants. In fact, Summit County expressly diavowed and disclaimed any interest in the subject land within the "old County roadway" (Tr. 229-230). Consequently there were no adverse claims asserted by the sovereign upon which the trial Court was called upon to make a ruling.

2. *The Statute of Frauds is not Available to the State Road Commission as a Defense.*

For the premiere time in this Proceeding, State counsel in his Brief, raises the spurious contention that, somehow, the State of Utah is entitled to avail itself of the defense or claim of the Statute of Frauds as against the possessory rights and interest under color of title of these Landowners. App. Br. page 15 para. 2.

Never during this trial did the State argue that the Statute of Frauds, was even latently relevant. Nor did it affirmatively plead such defense as required by Rule 8(c) U.R.C.P. Even if it had, the argument would have been abortive, for besides the elementary and overriding rule as stated by *Nichols, supra* and this Court in *Ketchum Coal Co., supra*, it is blackletter law that the Statute of Frauds, 25-5-1 U.C.A. 1953, is a personal defense available only to a party to a parol contract and cannot be seized upon by an unrelated third party. *Demeter v. Annenson*, 180 P.2d 998 (Cal. 1947); *Powell v. Leon*, 239 P.2d 974, (Kan. 1952); *Forrester v. Rock Island Oil & Refining Co.*, 323 P.2d 597, (Mont. 1957); *Dodge v. Davies*, 179 P.2d 735, (Ore. 1947).

Under the penumbra of events surrounding the ownership of the subject property, the Road Commission was not a party to any of the transactions that occurred prior to condemnation and its unprecedented claim to the protection of the Statute of Frauds flies in the face of sound and established principals of common law.

3. *The Rulings of the Trial Court were Consistent and Comported with the Evidence and the Rule of the Case.*

State counsel goes to the bottom of the well to urge, on page 16 of his Brief, that the trial Court made inconsistent determinations in ruling on the one hand, that land granted to the State Road Commission via the Summit County Quitclaim Deed was vested in the State, while at the same time holding on the other hand that the ownership of land under the "old County road" was, for purposes of the eminent domain trial, vested in these Defendants by virtue of their continuous, quiet, undisturbed and peaceable possession.

Any reasonable examination of the record quickly illustrates that the trial Court did not make inconsistent rulings as claimed by the State. What Judge Swan did say was that to the extent that the State Road Commission had record fee title stemming from a Quitclaim Deed from Summit County, such title was paramount to the possessory ownership and the clouded record title of the Defendants. However, as to the 6.27 acres determined to be in the ownership of these Defendants, the State did not nor could it assert a paramount record interest and Summit County,

appearing through its County Attorney resolved any doubt on the subject by expressly disclaiming any such paramount interest. Judge Swan's determination, on the facts adduced, was, therefore, quite consistent with the enunciated rule that the Defendants' possessory ownership, based upon quiet and undisturbed possession together with bona fide color of title, was good against all with the world with exception of a party actually asserting a determined superior right. Such conclusionary ruling is in complete accord with the manifest case law prevalent in a quiet title action, viz., a disclaimer or non-appearance by a recorded interest negates any legal force or validity which such interest might otherwise have. Herein, not only did Summit County expressly disclaim any interest in the former County roadway, but the former Chairman of the Summit County Commission, Archie Pace, testified that Summit County resolved and agreed in 1965 to abandon the alignment of the old road.

The argument of State counsel on this point is unworthy of this Court's consideration.

POINT III

THE LEGAL PRINCIPAL OF UNITY OF OWNERSHIP AND UNITY OF USE IN EMINENT DOMAIN ARE NOT HERE AT ISSUE.

State counsel urges that under the facts of the case at Bar, or at least his version, these landowners have failed to show unity of ownership and unity of use of the total property before condemnation. See App. Br. pp. 16-22. The argument is made with such anxiety that it by-passes the

admitted and uncontroverted fact that the property condemned, as well as the land underlying all of the commercial improvements were under the common ownership of Davies and LeSourd.⁵ The contention of the lack of unity of ownership and use presupposes on the State's part that the trial Court erred in its rulings on the issue of ownership and that consequently there were at least five separate parcels under five separate ownerships. That is the best that can be said of State counsel's argument.

If the lower Court in this case is correct in its initial and ultimate rulings of ownership (which clearly it was), then the conclusion is required that the subject property met the ordinary tests of unity of ownership, unity of use and unity of possession. While State counsel in his recitation of case authority is something less than completely candid in his statement of the fact in *McIntyre v. Board of County Commissioners*, 211 P.2d 59 (Kan. 1949), and *San Benito County v. Copper Mountain Mining Company*, 45 P.2d 428 (Cal. 1935), we have no quarrel with the recognized legal maxim that in a partial taking case, there must be unity of ownership and actual or probable potential use between the land taken and the land remaining.⁶ But we need not resort to authority from Kansas, California or

⁵And it was with respect to this land, title to which was not in dispute herein, that predominately all severance damage was predicated (Tr. 419, 667, 693).

⁶It is of importance to note that without exception, all the cases cited by State counsel in support of the proposition of unity of ownership involved two or more adverse claimants, asserting adverse ownership in two or more separate parcels or arose out of a circumstance where ownership admittedly was vested in the condemnee and a third person. Such were not the facts of the instant case.

other jurisdictions for such pristine concepts. Justice Callister stated the proposition as well as anyone in setting out the facts of *State of Utah v. Williams, et al*, 22 U.2d 301, 452 P.2d 548 (1969), and this Court addressed itself to the question in some detail in *North Salt Lake v. St. Joseph Water and Irrigation Company*, 118 Utah 600, 223 P.2d 577, 584 (1950).

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